RECEIVED

Mar 28 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Shannon M. Phillips, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2023-001897

Erin Burns Anderson,

Respondent,

v.

Rudy Lamar Pearson,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Law Office of Clifford Bush, III, LLC
J. Andrew Smith
28 Old Jericho Road
Beaufort, South Carolina 29906
(843) 379-9500
drew@lawofficeofcbushiii.com
SC Bar Number 14086

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE WHEN THE CONTRACT EXPIRED, THE PARTIES NEVER EXECUTED AN EXTENSION OF TIME PRIOR TO EXPIRATION, AND TIME IS EXPRESSLY OF THE ESSENCE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE WHEN THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE, MERGER CLAUSE, AND NON-RELIANCE CLAUSE EXCLUDE EVIDENCE OF PRIOR ORAL DISCUSSIONS NOT EXPRESSLY DRAFTED INTO THE FOUR CORNERS OF THE CONTRACT?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE ON A CONTRACT FOR THE SALE OF REAL ESTATE WHEN THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS RENDERS VOID AN ALLEGED ORAL CONTRACTUAL MODIFICATION THAT WAS NEITHER REDUCED TO WRITING NOR EXECUTED BY APPELLANT?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT WAS EQUITABLY ESTOPPED TO ASSERT THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS TO VOID THE RIGHT OF WAY SURVEY AND ENFORCE THE CONTRACT EXPIRATION PROVISION WHEN THE RESPONDENT LOST NOTHING MORE THAN A BENEFIT OF THE CONTRACT?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THERE WAS A MEETING OF THE MINDS ON AN ALLEGED ORAL CONTRACTUAL MODIFICATION REGARDING A RIGHT OF WAY WHEN THE DETAILS OF THE SIZE, OWNERSHIP, CONSTRUCTION, AND MAINTENANCE OF THE RIGHT OF WAY WERE NOT AGREED UPON BY THE PARTIES AND THE PARTIES DID NOT AGREE TO A NEXUS BETWEEN THE RIGHT OF WAY AND RESPONDENT'S FINANCING?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 10, 2018, Respondent, Erin Burns Anderson, M.D., a young and wealthy physician in the Spartanburg area, commenced this action against Appellant, Rudy Lamar Pearson, an elderly gentleman from Maryland, seeking specific performance of a contract for the sale of land in the Town of Wellford, County of Spartanburg, State of South Carolina. (R. pp. 42-

55). Mr. Pearson answered Dr. Anderson's complaint, denying that Dr. Anderson complied with the terms of the contract. (R. pp. 58-60). In his answer, Mr. Pearson also alleged that the contract expired, that Dr. Anderson's claim was barred by the Statute of Frauds, and that Dr. Anderson signed a release of all claims. (R. pp. 58-60). Based on these defenses, Mr. Pearson filed a motion for summary judgment on September 26, 2019. (R. pp. 582-583). On October 29, 2019, Dr. Anderson also filed a motion for summary judgment alleging that the facts were sufficient for the court to grant specific performance. (R. pp. 562-579).

On November 12, 2019, this case was referred to the Master in Equity for Spartanburg County, Judge Gordon G. Cooper. (R. p. 584). On March 11, 2020, Judge Cooper granted Pearson's motion for summary judgment, holding the contract expired based on the contents of the contract and a clear reading of the contract. (R. pp. 37-41). Judge Cooper also held that no extension for the contract was granted prior to expiration, and no closing occurred on September 29, 2017, or five business days thereafter, allotted by the contract. (R. pp. 37-41). Judge Cooper found that the issues regarding a survey expired with the contract. (R. pp. 37-41).

On March 20, 2020, Respondent filed a motion to alter or amend Judge Cooper's decision and order granting Appellant summary judgment. (R. pp. 464-501). On May 5, 2022, a newly appointed Master in Equity for Spartanburg County, Judge Shannon Phillips, granted Respondent's motion to alter or amend and found that Respondent had created genuine issues of material fact whether Appellant's actions regarding the survey impeded Respondent's ability to purchase the property by the closing date set forth in the contract. (R. pp. 32-36). On May 13, 2022, Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend Judge Phillip's order of May 5, 2022. (R. pp. 423-451). Judge Phillips issued an order denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend on

October 28, 2022. (R. pp. 29-31).

The parties tried this specific performance action before the Master in Equity, Judge Phillips, on August 30, 2023. (R. pp. 61-383). On October 3, 2023, Judge Phillips issued a decision and order granting specific performance of the real estate sales contract. (R. pp. 6-28). Specifically, the Master in Equity found (1) that Respondent is entitled to specific performance of the contract, (2) the failure of the contract to close by the date in the written agreement was caused by actions of Appellant in failing to provide the survey he had promised to provide to Respondent on a timely basis so that Respondent could finalize her loan, and (3) Appellant shall select a closing attorney and notify Respondent of the closing date within thirty days of the date of the decision and order. (R. p. 27). On October 9, 2023, Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend. (R. pp. 386-405). The Master in Equity issued an order denying Appellant's motion to alter or amend on December 5, 2023. (R. pp. 4-5). Appellant served a notice of appeal on December 6, 2023, initiating this appeal. (R. pp. 384-385).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action for specific performance is one in equity. Campbell v. Carr, 361 S.C. 258, 262, 603 S.E.2d 625, 627 (S.C. App. 2004) (See also, Ingram v. Kasey's Assocs., 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 290-91 (2000) (applying the equitable standard of review to the trial court's findings of fact in a specific performance action); Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. Charleston S. Univ., 376 S.C. 399, 406, 656 S.E.2d 775, 779 (S.C. App. 2008) (holding that an action for specific performance lies in equity); Settlemeier v. McCluney, 359 S.C. 317, 320, 596 S.E.2d 514, 516 (S.C. App. 2004) (applying equitable standard of review to action for specific performance of an alleged oral contract for the conveyance of land); Parker v. Shecut, 340 S.C. 460, 478, 531 S.E.2d

546, 556 (S.C. App. 2000), rev'd on other grounds, 349 S.C. 226, 562 S.E.2d 620 (2002), (holding that an action for specific performance lies in equity).

"On appeal from an action in equity, [the appellate court] may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence." Walker v. Brooks, 414 S.C. 343, 347, 778 S.E.2d 477, 479 (2015). "However, this broad scope of review does not require this court to disregard the findings at trial or ignore the fact that the [circuit court] was in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses." Laughon v. O'Braitis, 360 S.C. 520, 524-25, 602 S.E.2d 108, 110 (S.C. App. 2004). Further, "this broad scope does not relieve the appellant of [the] burden to show that the trial court erred in its findings." Ballard v. Roberson, 399 S.C. 588, 593, 733 S.E.2d 107, 109 (2012); Miller v. Dillon, 432 S.C. 197, 851 S.E.2d 462 (S.C. App. 2020).

FACTS

Appellant, Rudy Lamar Pearson, inherited 21 acres of pristine waterfront property nestled into Lake Cooley on 355 Gibbs Road, Wellford, South Carolina 29385. (R. pp. 274, lines 13-21, 323-331, 336). Respondent, Erin Burns Anderson, M.D., owns neighboring waterfront acreage along Lake Cooley and desired to purchase Appellant's property to add to her estate. (R. pp. 122-123, 336). Respondent approached Katie Graves, a local realtor of Century 21, and directed Katie Graves to make a cold call to Appellant, a Maryland resident, to see if Appellant was interested in selling his unlisted property. (R. pp. 123 - 124, 176). Katie Graves spoke to Appellant's wife, Eleanor Pearson, via phone calls and text messages. (R. pp. 229, 337-353).

On July 9, 2017, Katie Graves texted Respondent that Appellant sought legal advice about a right of way for nine acres, owned by Appellant and his siblings, adjacent to the subject property. (R. p. 339). Katie Graves indicated that Appellant would also be willing to sell the adjacent nine

acres of property to Respondent. (R. pp. 336, 339). Respondent refused to purchase the adjacent 9 acres. (R. pp. 67, 339). According to testimony of Respondent, Appellant then orally indicated that he would obtain a survey of an access right of way to the adjacent nine acres. (R. p. 136). Appellant, Respondent, and Katie Graves never reduced the discussions regarding the access right of way to writing and did not seek signatures by either party. (R. pp. 136, 144, 148, 151, 157). Appellant's counsel moved to exclude any evidence of the right of way survey, asserting the parol evidence rule for pre-contract discussions and the Statute of Frauds for post-contract discussions. (R. pp. 75-87, 129-132, 419-420).

Appellant and Respondent entered into an Agreement/Contract: To Buy and Sell Real Estate (General Use and Lots/Acreage) ("the Contract") on July 25, 2017. (R. pp. 323-331). Respondent agreed to pay \$400,000.00 in a combination of finance and cash for the purchase of 355 Gibbs Road, Wellford, South Carolina 29385, tax map number 5.08-00-017.00. (R. pp. 323-331). Paragraph 4 of the Contract required closing to occur no later than 5 PM on or before September 29, 2017, with an automatic extension of 5 business days for an unsatisfied contingency through no fault of either party. (R. p. 323). The Contract expressly stated in bold print in paragraph 1 that **"time is of the essence with respect to all provisions of this Contract stipulating time, deadline, or performance periods."** (R. p. 323). The Contract required Respondent to pay \$3,000.00 earnest money to be a credit to Respondent at closing. (R. p. 324).

Paragraph 7 of the Contract, "Finance", required Respondent to secure a 15-year purchase money loan. (R. p. 324). The finance contingency expired at Closing. (R. p. 324). The Contract required Respondent to make good faith efforts to apply for and obtain financing. (R. p. 324). Final loan approval occurred when the lender funds the loan. (R. p. 325). The Contract stated that

if the seller was notified of the inability to obtain financing before closing, then either party may terminate the Contract by notice and the earnest money shall be returned to the Respondent. (R. p. 325). Paragraph 9 of the Contract indicated that the Contract was contingent upon the property being valued according to the lender's appraisal or other appraisal agreed to by the Parties. (R. p. 325). The lender, AgSouth, did not secure an appraisal prior to closing, and the parties never agreed to an appraisal prior to closing. (R. p. 194).

Paragraph 10 of the Contract, "Survey, Title Examination, Elevation, Insurance", indicated that Brokers recommend Respondent to have the property surveyed and title examined. (R. p. 325). The commitment letter issued by the lender, AgSouth, to Respondent mandated that Respondent's loan commitment was contingent upon Respondent securing a mortgage title insurance policy, a survey of the proposed real estate collateral, and an appraisal of the proposed real estate collateral that is satisfactory to the lender, AgSouth. (R. p. 356). Respondent failed to secure a mortgage title insurance policy, a survey of the proposed real estate collateral, and an appraisal of the proposed real estate collateral prior to closing. (R. pp. 184, 194, 197). Appellant did not enter any written contractual provision or sign any writing requiring Appellant to perform any of the contingent finance obligations of Respondent. (R. pp. 323-331, 355-358). Specifically, Appellant did not agree in the Contract or in a signed writing to secure either a survey or an appraisal of the proposed real estate collateral; these were obligations of Respondent. (R. pp. 323-331, 355-358).

Two days after executing the Contract, Respondent was very unclear about whether Appellant would need to secure a survey of the proposed real estate collateral, opposed to just a right of way survey. (R. pp. 364-368). On July 27, 2017, Respondent emailed Lynne Christiansen,

the loan officer at AgSouth, “They [Appellant and his wife] met with a surveyor when they were down here who will be working on carving out enough of a piece for the adjoining 9 acres that they still own to have road access. So the overall acreage will be slightly less than 21.99. **I am not sure if they [Appellant and his wife] will need to do an entire new survey when they do this (I would think that they would need to????).**” (R. p. 366).

The details of size, ownership, construction, and maintenance of the right of way are unknown, other than Respondent testified that the Parties agreed that the right of way would be no larger than 2 acres. (R. pp. 134, 148, 164, 199). The Parties never agreed that Appellant would relieve Respondent of her finance contingencies. Katie Graves testified that the contract never changed in acreage. (R. p. 242, lines 1-3). Respondent testified that Mr. Pearson did not want to reduce the amount of property he had for sale; he wanted access to the nine acres. (R. pp. 204, lines 14-23, 206, lines 4-11). Respondent further testified that she “never heard Mr. Pearson discuss reducing the amount of property that he had up for sale.” (R. p. 206, lines 4-11). Dr. Anderson then said “maybe it was Mrs. Pearson. I don’t know.” (R. p. 207, lines 2-7). The right of way survey obtained by the Pearsons indicated that the right of way remained a part of the proposed real estate collateral. (R. p. 368). No evidence was presented that Appellant ever agreed to get a survey of the proposed real estate collateral. (R. pp. 355-358). No modifications to the Contract were ever made to place the onus on Appellant to get the survey of the proposed real estate collateral that Respondent needed for financing. (R. pp. 191-193).

3D Land Surveying completed a right of way survey on August 16, 2017. (R. p. 369). Appellant consulted with an attorney, as recommended by the Contract, regarding the right of way survey, prior to having it recorded. (R. p. 254). After consulting with the attorney, Appellant

recorded the right of way survey on October 10, 2017. (R. p. 369). Dr. Anderson did not want to prevent Appellant from seeking legal advice. (R. p. 194, lines 12-16).

The Contract expired on September 29, 2017. Prior to expiration of the Contract and the five-business day grace period, Respondent never secured a survey of the collateral, an appraisal of the property, or a policy of title insurance on the collateral, and Respondent did not send the cash to the closing attorney. (R. pp. 182-184, 194, lines 7-11, 197, lines 14-20). Additionally, Respondent did not submit a written and signed request for extension of the Contract prior to expiration of the Contract. (R. pp. 345-346). On October 23, 2017, weeks after the Contract expired, Katie Graves emailed a written and signed request for an extension of the Contract to Appellant, and Mrs. Pearson responded that Appellant and she were going to build on the property and did not wish to extend the contract. (R. pp. 345-346).

Respondent asked Appellant if Appellant would reconsider selling the property to Respondent after the Contract expired; Respondent wanted to make a higher offer. (R. p. 346). Respondent, through Katie Graves, contacted Appellant and stated “Ms. Anderson [Respondent] would like to make you [Appellant] an offer on the other parcel at this time, it is more than before. I think you will like this offer much better.” (R. p. 346). Appellant offered the 33.96 acres for \$900,000.00. (R. pp. 346-347). When the Parties did not reach a new contract, Respondent’s agent sent Appellant a release of the Contract signed by Respondent. (R. pp. 346-347). After negotiations for a new contract failed on February 12, 2018, Respondent then commenced this action on April 10, 2018. (R. pp. 42-57, 347).

ARGUMENTS

I. **BECAUSE THE CONTRACT EXPIRED, THE PARTIES DID NOT EXECUTE A WRITTEN EXTENSION PRIOR TO EXPIRATION, AND TIME IS EXPRESSLY OF THE ESSENCE, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.**

The trial court erred in granting specific performance of an expired contract when the Parties agreed to a contract containing a time of the essence provision. (R. pp. 323-331). "A contract for the sale of land containing a clause that 'time is of the essence' must be performed by the date fixed in the contract or the contract is no longer viable." 61 Am. Jur. 3d *Proof of Facts* § 325 (2001).

A. **Time is of the Essence in the Contract.**

In the present case, paragraph 1. (G) of the Contract clearly and unequivocally contains a time is of the essence provision. (R. p. 323). The Contract expressly states, in bold print, in paragraph 1 (G) that **"time is of the essence with respect to all provisions of this Contract stipulating time, deadline, or performance periods."** (R. p. 323). The Parties initialed the bottom of page 1 containing paragraph 1. (G) and signed the Contract. Paragraph 4 of the Contract required closing to occur no later than 5 PM on or before September 29, 2017, with an automatic extension of 5 business days, for an unsatisfied contingency, through no fault of either party. (R. p. 323).

B. **The Contract Expired.**

The closing date, September 29, 2017, and the grace period of five business days thereafter, came and went with no closing. The Contract expired pursuant to its time is of the essence terms on September 29, 2017. (R. p. 323). At the time of the expiration of the Contract, even including a

five-business day grace period, Dr. Anderson still had not performed most of her obligations under the contract and her loan commitment letter. (R. pp. 184, 194, 197). Dr. Anderson failed to secure a mortgage title insurance policy required of the loan commitment letter. (R. p. 184, lines 13-14). Dr. Anderson failed to secure a survey of the proposed real estate collateral. (R. p. 197, lines 14-20). Also, Dr. Anderson failed to secure an appraisal of the proposed real estate collateral. (R. p. 194, lines 7-11). The parties never agreed to an appraisal prior to closing. (R. p. 194, lines 9-11). As Dr. Anderson did not perform the contingencies required for her to secure financing, Dr. Anderson failed to obtain financing by the time of closing. Also, Dr. Anderson failed to send the cash, \$100,000.00, to close. (R. pp. 182-184).

C. The present case is distinguishable from Faulkner v. Millar.

The Court's reliance on Faulkner v. Millar, 319 S.C. 216, 460 S.E.2d 378 (1995) is misplaced for three main reasons.

First, in Faulkner, time was not of the essence. The Court laid out the general rule "it is well established in this state that time is not of the essence of a contract to convey land unless made so by its terms expressly or by implication." Faulkner, 319 S.C. at 219 (citing Bishop v. Tolbert, 249 S.C. 289, 153 S.E.2d 912 (1967)). The exception to the general rule is an option contract, where time is of the essence is implied without an express provision. Faulkner, 319 S.C. at 219 (citing Dargan v. Page, 222 S.C. 520, 73 S.E.2d 705 (1952)). In Faulkner, the Court held that the contract was not an option contract and time was not of the essence as an express term, and therefore a reasonable time to perform would be allowed. Faulkner, 319 S.C. at 220.

Second, in Faulkner, the party seeking specific performance had requested an extension of time **prior to the expiration of the contract**, which went unanswered by the other party.

Faulkner, 319 S.C. at 221. Unlike Faulkner, Katie Graves, acting as Dr. Anderson's agent, sent a written and signed request for an extension of the Contract to Appellant by email on October 23, 2017, **weeks after the contract expired**. (R. p. 346).

Katie Graves served as Dr. Anderson's agent throughout the Contract and its execution. Katie Graves testified that she was Dr. Anderson's agent. (R. pp. 223, 260-263). Dr. Anderson sought Katie Graves' assistance in reaching out to the Pearsons when the Pearsons did not even have the property for sale. (R. pp. 123, 176). Katie Graves communicated with the Pearson's on Dr. Anderson's behalf. (R. pp. 262-263). The Contract submitted to the Court by the Respondent's Counsel in the Summons and Complaint had "Buyers Agent" checked regarding agency. (R. pp. 55, 383). Katie Graves and Dr. Anderson also signed a Buyer's Service Pledge Certificate to be used in an exclusive buyer's agent agreement. (R. pp. 170, 262).

Dr. Anderson's agent, Katie Graves, represented to Appellant that the Contract expired, sent a written request for extension after the contract expired, and sent a Release of Contract signed by Respondent. (R. pp. 345-346). The Contract expired as represented by Dr. Anderson's agent, Katie Graves. (R. pp. 345-346).

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