**RECEIVED**

**Apr 09 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Shannon M. Phillips, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2023-001897  
Case No. 2018-CP-42-01222

Erin Burns Anderson.....Respondent,

v.

Rudy Lamar Pearson.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Bernie W. Ellis  
SC Bar No. 64841  
BURR & FORMAN, LLP  
Post Office Box 447  
Greenville, SC 29602  
Tel. (864) 271-4940  
Fax (864) 271-4015  
bellis@burr.com

William A. Darwin, Jr.  
SC Bar No. 15109  
HOLCOMBE BOMAR, P.A.  
101 W. St. John St.  
Suite 200  
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306  
Tel. (864) 594-5300

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE TO RESPONDENT WHEN RESPONDENT’S NOT HAVING PERFORMED THE CONTRACT HAD BEEN CAUSED BY THE ACTIONS OF APPELLANT AFTER THE EXECUTION OF THE CONTRACT.**

This case presents a classic situation where equity steps in to prevent a wrong from occurring. The trial court's ruling in this case is fully consistent with the case law of this State, which has established that a party may not terminate a contract based on the other party's lack of performance where the terminating party contributed to that lack of performance. *Champion v. Whaley*, 280 S.C. 116, 121, 311 S.E.2d 404, 407 (Ct. App. 1984) ("It is sufficient for the plaintiff to present evidence that the defendant's prevention 'substantially contributed' to the nonoccurrence of the condition.") *Id.* at 121, 311 S.E.2d at 407 (internal citation omitted); *Faulkner v. Millar*, 319 S.C. 216, 460 S.E.2d 378 (1995).

That is what happened here. Appellant asked Respondent to allow Appellant to have a right-of-way over the property Respondent was purchasing (R. p. 134, lines 9-20), and stated, at the signing of the contract and afterwards, through his agent, Mrs. Pearson, that he would provide a survey of the property that showed the right-of-way. (R. pp. 337-344, 345), (R. p. 135, lines 20-25, p. 136, lines 1-5, 22-25, p. 144, lines 2-7). Appellant obtained a survey, but withheld it from Respondent until the contract expiration date had passed and, thus, did not keep his promise upon which Respondent had relied. (R. 147, lines 23-25, p. 148, lines 1-20, p. 164, lines 1-5). Appellant then tried to use his broken promise to terminate the contract. (R. pp. 345-346). South Carolina law does not permit that.

'A court of equity abhors forfeitures, and will not lend its aid to enforce them.' *Jones v. N.Y. Guar. & Indem. Co.*, 101 U.S. 622, 628, 25 L.Ed. 1030 (1879). 'Equity does not favor forfeitures or penalties and will relieve against them when practicable in the interest of justice.' *Lane v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co.*, 147 S.C. 333, 374, 145 S.E. 196, 209 (1928). The court has the power in equity to deny or delay forfeiture when fairness demands. *Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp.*, 351 S.C. 167, 172, 568 S.E.2d 361, 364 (2002).

*Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 256, 715 S.E.2d 348, 356 (Ct. App. 2011).

The general rule applicable to this case of specific performance is set forth in *Champion*. In that case, a real estate broker sued for a commission where the sellers' actions interfered with a sale to the buyer whom the broker had procured, by selling the house to another buyer. *Champion* 280 S.C. at 117, 311 S.E.2d at 405. The contract between the broker and the sellers allowed for the broker to earn a commission only if there were a contract of sale between the sellers and a buyer procured by the broker for which the sellers had the right to demand performance. *Id.* at 120, 311 S.E.2d at 406. The sellers' position was that the contract with the buyer procured by the broker had not closed, and that *Champion*, the broker, had failed to prove that it would have closed even if the sellers had not sold the property to someone else. *Id.* at 118-19, 311 S.E. 2d at 405. The trial court had granted an involuntary nonsuit in favor of the sellers. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and granted a new trial, holding, in part:

[I]f the seller prevents a condition from occurring, then the condition is excused and his obligation to pay becomes unconditional. *Shear v. National Rifle Association of America*, 606 F.2d 1251 (D.C.Cir.1979). This is simply an instance of the general rule that one who prevents a condition of a contract cannot rely on the other party's resulting nonperformance in an action on the contract. *Farrow v. Martin*, 16 S.C.L. (Harp.) 409 (1824); *Young v. Hunter*, 6 N.Y. (2 Selden) 203 (1852); *Fisher v. Drewett*, (1878) 48 L.J.Q.B. 32.

*Champion*, 280 S.C. at 120, 311 S.E.2d at 406. The Court of Appeals further stated:

It is sufficient for the plaintiff to present evidence that the defendant's prevention "substantially contributed" to the nonoccurrence of the condition. *See, Shear v. National Rifle Association, supra*. Once he has made such proof, the burden shifts to the defendant. If the defendant can show that the condition would not have occurred regardless of the prevention, then the prevention did not contribute materially to its nonoccurrence and the condition is not excused. This is the rule adopted in the Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 245 (1979), and we approve it as the proper rule in this jurisdiction.

*Id.* at 280 S.C. at 122, 311 S.E.2d at 407.

This sale did not go forward for only one reason: Respondent had kindly agreed to allow Mr. Pearson to carve out a portion of the 21.99-acre tract to provide a right-of-way for another piece of property in which Mr. Pearson had an ownership interest. For Respondent to provide this right-of-way, Appellant had to provide a survey and stated, through his agent that he would provide that survey, showing where the right-of-way would be and how much acreage would be involved. (R. p. 165, lines 15-25, p. 166, lines 1-25, p. 167, lines 1-25, p. 168, lines 1-15, p. 235, lines 2-9). Mrs. Pearson, as Appellant's agent, told Appellant, through Katie Graves, both before and after the contract was signed on July 25, 2017, that Appellant would provide the survey. (R. p. 337-344, R. p. 345) Appellant knew, at least through his agent, that Respondent needed the survey to take to her lender to obtain an appraisal so that her loan could be funded. (R. 345, R. 364). Appellant obtained the survey, but did not make it available to Respondent until the contract expiration date had passed (R. p. 159. lines 4-25, p. 160, lines 1-25, p. 161, lines 1-4, p. 277, lines 6-25), and then declared that the contract was terminated. (R. p. 345-346). Neither Mrs. Pearson nor anyone else disputed these facts at trial.

*Faulkner v. Millar*, 319 S.C. 216, 460 S.E.2d 378 (1995) involved a contract for the sale of real property in which the sale was subject to the buyer's right to complete an inspection of the property within ten days after sellers' acceptance. *Id.* at 218, 460 S.E.2d at 379. After conducting the initial inspection, buyer's attorney notified sellers' attorney that buyer needed more time for a structural engineer to complete the inspection. Sellers' attorney did not respond. After further inspection, buyer attempted to terminate the contract. Sellers refused, stating that the 10 days had passed. Buyer brought an action for specific performance for the return of his \$45,000.00 earnest money payment. *Id.* at 218-19, 460 S.E.2d at 379.

The South Carolina Supreme Court held that even if the contract at issue were an option contract (as sellers argued), which would have made time of the essence, the sellers were estopped

to complain about the buyer's untimely performance and affirmed the order of specific performance to return the escrow money. The sellers' failure to object to the buyer's request for more time led the buyer to believe he would have additional time to conduct the inspection and terminate the contract. The Supreme Court held: "Silence, when it has the effect of misleading a party, may operate as equitable estoppel." *Id.* at 221, 460 S.E.2d at 381.

In this case, Mrs. Pearson did not just remain silent when Ms. Graves told her that Respondent needed the survey. Mrs. Pearson stated repeatedly that she would send it, and she knew that Respondent needed it give to her lender. (R. p. 337-344, R. p. 345). This was not a case of silence having the effect of misleading a party. This was a case of affirmative statements misleading a party. Therefore, under *Faulkner*, Mrs. Pearson's knowing that Respondent needed the survey to give to her lender, and Mrs. Pearson stating that she would send it operated as equitable estoppel to prohibit Appellant from terminating the contract when he did.

Appellant is incorrect in arguing that *Faulkner* did not address contracts where time is of the essence. It clearly does:

Moreover, even were we to find the present contract to create an option, [which operates as a time-is-of-the-essence contract] the Sellers are estopped to complain. We have previously recognized that a seller will not be permitted to declare a forfeiture of the rights of the buyer for nonperformance of any of the vital terms or conditions of the contract where such nonperformance has been with the express or clearly evinced tacit or implied consent of the seller. *General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Herlong*, 248 S.C. 55, 149 S.E.2d 51 (1966).

*Faulkner*, 319 S.C. at 221, 460 S.E.2d at 381.

The court's statement in *Faulkner* cuts directly against Appellant's argument that his not living in South Carolina was a hold-up to having the survey reviewed and such that failure to provide the survey on a timely basis should not be held against him. Delaying sending the survey for any reason was, at a minimum, clearly evinced implied consent by the seller for the buyer to

have additional time to complete the transaction. Instead, Appellant used the delay that he created and Respondent's good faith to attempt to defeat Respondent's contract rights.

Appellant also argues that in *Faulkner*, the buyer had requested an extension before the expiration of the contract. Appellant does not show why that fact applies in this case where Appellant had affirmatively promised to provide a survey within the timeframe provided by the contract. Unlike in *Faulkner*, Respondent was not the party that needed more time during the original contract period. Respondent was waiting on Defendant to do something Defendant had promised that he would do. However, even if Appellant's argument had merit, Appellant argues that his living out of state and his need to have a lawyer review the survey created a justifiable delay.

Ms. Graves texted Mrs. Pearson on October 4, 2017, (R. p. 345), well within five (5) business days following the expiration date set forth in the contract, which allowed for an automatic extension of five (5) business days where the contract did not close because of a contingency that was not the fault of either party. (R. p. 25; R. p. 323), Appellant argues that it was not a signed written request for an extension, but cites no authority for the proposition that such a request, even if it were necessary in this case, would have required more formality than a text message.

Further, it is not disputed that the Pearsons did obtain a survey of the entire property showing the right-of-way, that the survey was prepared on August 15, 2017, 22 days after the contract was signed and 40 days before the expiration date in the contract. (R. p. 323, R. p. 369). It was not disputed at trial that the Pearsons could have sent the survey to Dr. Anderson prior to the expiration date on the contract to Dr. Anderson and did not. (R. 11). It is not disputed that Mr. Pearson's agent, Mrs. Pearson, knew that Dr. Anderson needed the survey for her loan to fund. (R. p. 345, p. 369). It is not disputed that the survey was recorded in the Spartanburg County

Register of Deeds office on October 10, 2017, just a few days after the extension period in the contract had passed. (R. p. 369).

On appeal, Appellant did not specifically challenge the trial court's finding that Respondent met the elements of specific performance: that, "(1) there is clear evidence of a valid agreement; (2) the agreement had been partly carried into execution on one side with the approbation of the other; and (3) the party who comes to compel performance has performed his or her part, or has been and remains able and willing to perform his or her part of the contract." *Campbell v. Carr*, 361 S.C. 258, 262, 603 S.E.2d 625, 628 (Ct. App. 2004) (internal citation omitted). (R. pp. 12-27).

Appellant argues, however, that in obtaining a loan, Respondent's lender required her to secure a title insurance policy, a survey and an appraisal of the proposed real estate collateral, and that she had obtained none of those. Appellant argues that this case is then like *Ingram v. Kasey's Associates*, 340 S.C. 98, 531 S.E.2d 287 (2000). That argument fails because, as provided in *Champion*, once Plaintiff shows that Defendant "substantially contributed" to the nonoccurrence of a condition the burden of proof shifted to Defendant to prove that the condition could not have occurred in the absence of Defendant's acts or omissions. Thus, it was Defendant/Appellant's burden to prove that even if he provided the survey on a timely basis, Plaintiff/Respondent would not have been able to obtain title insurance (which is usually purchased at the closing), and the lender would not have been able to obtain an appraisal. Appellant further had to prove that the failure of any of those conditions would have prevented Respondent from closing the sale. *Id.* Appellant offered no such evidence at trial. Further, Appellant argues as though Dr. Anderson's loan contingency requirements were contractual duties owed to Appellant. They were not. Respondent was not required to get a title insurance policy, survey and appraisal pursuant to the contract with Appellant. The loan Commitment Letter was for Dr. Anderson's benefit alone. Appellant clearly interfered with Dr. Anderson's ability to obtain that loan.

The preponderance of the evidence is that both parties understood that the survey Appellant would provide would be of the entire property showing where a right-of-way would be. (R. p. 337, R. p. 345). That the survey that was recorded is of the entire property (R. p. 369) also shows that the parties understood that the survey would be of the entire property. Further, even if the survey were to be only sufficient to show the right-of-way, Respondent still needed that to know what she was buying (R. p. 134, lines 9-22, p. 135, lines 8-19), and Appellant knew it. (R. p. 4). The bank needed the survey to order the appraisal (R. p. 155, lines 14-17, R. p. 364)

Appellant relies heavily on the email from Respondent to Lynn Christiansen dated July 27, 2017 in which Respondent stated, in part, “I am not sure if they will need to do an entire new survey when they do this (I would think they would need to ?????)” (R. p. 364). Appellant argues that that statement means that Respondent was not sure whether the survey the Pearsons would prepare would be if the entire property. However, Appellant did not ask Respondent what that statement meant at trial, and did not bring this issue up until he submitted his proposed order to the court following the trial.

Therefore, even if that argument can be made now, Appellant’s argument as to its meaning is speculative. The remainder of the email indicates that there was a pre-existing survey. It is more likely that Respondent was wondering if the new survey would just update the prior survey. Either way, Respondent and the lender needed the new survey that the Mr. Pearson’s agent said the Pearsons were preparing. (R. p. 155, lines 14-25; R. p. 364).

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE TO RESPONDENT BASED UPON EVIDENCE OF ACTIONS AND STATEMENTS MADE AFTER THE EXECUTION OF THE CONTRACT.**

Appellant is correct that discussions about the right-of-way and the survey began before the contract was signed; however, the promise to provide the survey to establish the right-of-way upon which Respondent reasonably relied, also occurred after the contract had been signed.

Therefore, the parol evidence rule, the doctrine of merger, and the non-reliance clause do not apply to Mrs. Pearson's repeated promises, on behalf of Mr. Pearson, made after the contract was signed to provide a survey Respondent needed in order for Respondent to honor her agreement to allow a right-of-way across the property she was buying. (R. p. 164, lines 8-15) (R. p. 337-343, R. p. 345). *See, Gilliland v. Elmwood Props.*, 301 S.C. 295, 302, 391 S.E.2d 577, 581 (1990) (stating that the parol evidence rule applies to prevent the introduction of extrinsic evidence of agreements or understandings prior to or contemporaneous with the execution of an unambiguous written instrument to contradict, vary or explain the written instrument).

It was undisputed at trial that Dr. Anderson and Mr. Pearson had a valid written and signed contract for the purchase and sale of real property. (R. pp. 323-331). It was further undisputed that Dr. Anderson was happy with the contract as set forth in the document and had no desire to modify it. (R. p. 216, lines 3-6). It was Mr. Pearson who asked for the right of way and who stated, through his agent, that he would provide the survey showing where the right-of-way would be. (R. p. 135, lines 20-25), (R. p. 345).

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